#### NO. 23-CV-0719



Clerk of the Court
Received 02/05/2024 04:44 PM
Filed 02/05/2024 04:44 PM

#### WONDER TWINS HOLDINGS, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

#### 450101 DC HOUSING TRUST,

Appellee.

Appeal from the District of Columbia Superior Court 2021-CA-000141-B (Honorable Robert Rigsby)

## BRIEF OF APPELLANT WONDER TWINS HOLDINGS, LLC

February 5, 2024

Ian G. Thomas (Bar No.1021680)
\*Tracy L. Buck (Bar No. 1021540)
OFFIT KURMAN
1325 G Street NW, Suite 500
Washington, DC 20005
(202) 900-8592
(202) 900-8597
ithomas@offitkurman.com
tracy.buck@offitkurman.com

Counsel for Appellant Wonder Twins Holdings, LLC

### **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

Appellant (Wonder Twins Holdings, LLC)

#### INTRODUCTION

The legal issues in this appeal simply require the application of this Court's decision in *Chase Plaza* and its subsequent progeny. Appellant Wonder Twins Holdings, LLC ("Wonder Twins") purchased the subject condominium unit at a super-priority lien foreclosure sale, which extinguished the lender's first deed of trust as this Court recognized in Chase Plaza v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, 98 A.3d 166, 173 (D.C. 2014). The extinguishment of the first deed of trust occurred notwithstanding the representation that the first deed of trust would survive, as this Court confirmed in its decision in Liu v. U.S. Bank National Association, 179 A.3d 871, 879 (D.C. 2018). The lower court ignored this well-settled precedent and determined that Appellee 450101 DC Housing Trust ("Housing Trust") had superior title to the property at issue based on a subsequent foreclosure of the extinguished deed of trust. As discussed more below, this misapplication of law requires the reversal of the lower court's decision.

#### **RULE 26.1 CORPORATE DISCLOSURE**

Appellee Wonder Twins Holdings, LLC is a privately held limited liability company and does not have any members or shareholders that are a publicly traded company.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the lower court contradicted this Court's holding in *Chase Plaza* in finding that a first deed of trust is not extinguished as a result of a superpriority condominium lien foreclosure sale.
- 2. Whether the lower court contradicted this Court's holding in *Liu* in finding that the condominium association's representations that a super-priority condominium lien foreclosure sale could be conducted "subject to" a first deed of trust controlled the preservation of the lender's lien.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of competing claims to quiet title to the real property located at 450 Condon Terrace, SE, Unit 101, Washington, DC ("Property") between Wonder Twins and Housing Trust. On August 17, 2017, Wonder Twins became the owner of the Property as the successful purchaser at a super-priority condominium lien foreclosure sale conducted pursuant to D.C. Code § 42-1903.13. App. 168-70. Five months later, Housing Trust purchased the same condominium unit as a result of a judicial mortgage foreclosure sale. App. 194-96. Both Wonder Twins and Housing Trust recorded their Trustee's Deeds resulting from their respective foreclosure sales within two months of each auction.

On January 5, 2021, Housing Trust filed suit against Wonder Twins, seeking declaratory relief to quiet title to the subject condominium unit, claiming an

The judicial foreclosure action in which Housing Trust purchased the Property is styled Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, et al. v. Mark E. Taylor, Case No. 2016 CA 8913 R(RP). App. 231-43. Importantly, Wonder Twins was not a party to that action despite being a record owner of the real property. App. 232. The import of this fact is discussed in more detail *infra*.

ownership interest in the property free and clear of any claims to title held by Wonder Twins. App. 019-27. After service was allegedly effectuated upon Wonder Twins, Housing Trust moved for default against Wonder Twins who originally failed to respond to the Complaint. App. 004. On September 24, 2021, a default judgment was entered against Wonder Twins. App. 008. Soon thereafter, on November 1, 2021, Wonder Twins filed a Verified Answer to the Complaint and Counterclaim against Housing Trust. App. 099-114. Wonder Twins also filed a Motion to Quash Service of Process and Vacate Default Judgment, which was granted by the lower court on February 22, 2022. App. 011.

Wonder Twins' Counterclaim seeks declaratory relief quieting title to the condominium unit, claiming that its ownership interest is superior to Housing Trust's claim to title. App. 110-113. The basis for Wonder Twins' claim to title is that it holds title free and clear of any encumbrances as a result of the super-priority lien condominium sale which, pursuant to D.C. Code § 42-1903.13, extinguished the first Deed of Trust that encumbered the Property at the time of sale. *See id.* Due to the extinguishment of the Deed of Trust, the foreclosure sale through which Housing Trust purchased the Property was invalid. On March 23, 2022, Housing Trust filed an Answer to the Counterclaim. App. 115-18.

On May 10, 2022, the Court issued a Track 3 Mediation Scheduling Order and the parties began to engage in discovery. App. 013. Housing Trust ultimately

filed a Motion to Compel Discovery against Wonder Twins for its failure to respond to discovery. App. 014. Wonder Twins opposed the Motion and appended its written discovery responses and documents production thereto. *Id.* On March 3, 2023, the Court denied the Motion to Compel. *Id.* The record reflects that this was the only discovery exchanged amongst the parties.

On May 1, 2023, Housing Trust filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, seeking declaratory relief that the trial court quiet title as to its fee simple ownership interest in the subject condominium unit and its right to immediately possess same. App. 119-35. Wonder Twins opposed the Motion, demonstrating that its ownership rights in the property are superior to that of Housing Trust because Housing Trust's claim to title stems from the foreclosure of an invalid deed of trust. App. 218-22. Specifically, Wonder Twins argues that the first deed of trust was extinguished by the very super-priority lien sale that it successfully purchased the condominium unit from. Id. On August 2, 2023, the trial court granted summary judgment in Housing Trust's favor, declaring that it holds fee simple title to the condominium unit free and clear of any claims to title held by Wonder Twins. App. 223-30. The trial court also awarded Housing Trust possession of the unit. App. 230. Wonder Twins noticed this appeal on August 2, 2023.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 9, 2006, Mark Taylor ("Taylor") purchased the condominium unit located at 450 Condon Terrace, SE, Unit 101, Washington, DC ("Property"). App. 155. The Property is located in the condominium building operated by the Highland Court Condominium (the "Association"). *Id.* To finance the purchase of the Property, Taylor obtained a loan from Bank of America, N.A. (the "Lender") in the amount of \$182,598.00, which was secured by a first deed of trust on the Property ("Deed of Trust") that was recorded amongst the District of Columbia Land Records on January 31, 2007. App. 136-54.

As early as 2016, Taylor defaulted on both his mortgage payments to the Lender and payments of his condominium assessments to the Association. On December 9, 2016, the Lender<sup>2</sup> filed a judicial foreclosure action against Taylor to initiate foreclosure proceedings if its Deed of Trust in default (the "Lender's Foreclosure Case"). App. 231-32. Soon thereafter, on December 20, 2016, the Association recorded a Notice of Lien for Assessments Due ("Notice of Condo Lien"), which was recorded as Instrument No. 2016131862 in the District of Columbia Land Records.<sup>3</sup> The Notice specified that over two years of assessments

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "Lender" shall hereinafter refer to the original beneficiary of the Deed of Trust, Bank of America, N.A., and all of its successors-in-interest, including the Plaintiff that initiated the judicial foreclosure proceedings and its substituted successors-in-interest thereafter.

While neither the Notice of Condo Lien nor the Notice of Condo sale (identified *infra*) were appended to the filings in the record below, the court can take judicial notice of matters of

were outstanding. All unpaid assessments constitute a lien ("Condo Lien"). D.C. Code § 42-1903.13(a).

On July 12, 2017, the Association recorded its Notice of Foreclosure Sale of Condominium Unit for Assessments Due amongst the District of Columbia Land Records as Instrument No. 2017076225 ("Notice of Condo Sale"), advertising its auction pursuant to D.C. Code § 42-1903.13. *See supra* fn. 3. The condominium foreclosure sale occurred on August 17, 2017, wherein Wonder Twins was the highest bidder to purchase the Property in the amount of \$13,000 (the "Condo Sale"). App. 168. The Association subsequently executed a Trustee's Deed in favor of Wonder Twins, which was recorded in the District of Columbia Land Records on October 11, 2017. App. 169-70.

Meanwhile, Taylor had failed to participate in the Lender's Foreclosure Case, and consequently, a default judgment was entered against him on November 17, 2017. App. 237. Notwithstanding Wonder Twins' record ownership interest in the Property, the Lender did not include Wonder Twins as a party defendant to the case. App. 241. Additionally, notwithstanding this Court's 2014 opinion in *Chase Plaza v. JP Morgan Chase Bank*, 98 A.3d 166 (D.C. 2014) – holding that a condominium association foreclosing on its six-month super-priority lien pursuant to D.C. Code §

public record, as these filings were recorded in the District of Columbia Land Records. *See Drake v. McNair*, 993 A.2d 607, 616 (D.C. 2010).

42-1903.13(a)(2) extinguishes a first deed of trust on the property – the Lender continued its efforts to obtain the judgment and enforce same. *Id.* at 175; App. 237. On January 11, 2018, the Lender conducted its judicial foreclosure of the Deed of Trust, wherein Housing Trust was the highest bidder at auction in the amount of \$80,000 (the "Lender Sale"). App. 191. The Lender then executed a Trustee's Deed in favor of Housing Trust and recorded it in the District of Columbia Land Records on March 20, 2018. App. 194-96.

This quiet title dispute followed as to Wonder Twins' and Housing Trust's competing claims to title to the Property, both of which stem from the Association's Condo Sale and the Lender's Sale, respectively.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The lower court's decision that Housing Trust holds superior title in the Property to that of Wonder Twins should be reversed. The facts concerning the Condo Sale are undisputed and the record reflects that the Condo Lien consisted of more than six months of assessments owed to the Association. Thus, the Association's foreclosure of its Condo Lien included its super-priority lien pursuant to D.C. Code § 42-1903.13. *See 4700 Conn 305 Trust v. Capital One, N.A.*, 193 A.3d 762, 765 (D.C. 2018). When Wonder Twins purchased the Property at the Condo Sale for an amount that was insufficient to satisfy the first Deed of Trust, the Lender's lien was extinguished as a matter of law. *See Chase Plaza Condominium* 

Ass'n, Inc. v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 98 A.3d 166, 173 (D.C. 2014). As a result, Wonder Twins acquired title to the Property free and clear of the Lender's Deed of Trust. *Id.* The Lender had no valid lien to foreclose upon and accordingly, Housing Trust acquired no rights to title in the Property at the Lender's Sale.

The trial court's initial error in holding otherwise is that it confused claims to title with lien priority. As a matter of law, a superior claim to title is based on a bona fide purchaser's recordation of its deed in the District of Columbia Land Records. It is undisputed that the Condo Sale was a valid foreclosure sale, rendering Wonder Twins a bona fide purchaser of the Property. It is also undisputed that Wonder Twins recorded its Trustee's Deed three months prior to the Lender's Sale. At the time Wonder Twins recorded its deed, the world was on notice of the legal implications of the Condo Sale and its extinguishment of the Deed of Trust. The Lender's foreclosure was of an invalid lien and Housing Trust assumed the risk that it purchased no rights to title by bidding at the Lender's Sale.

The trial court also erred in failing to apply *Chase Plaza* and its subsequent progeny to the Condo Sale. Had the trial court applied *Chase Plaza*, it should have held that the Condo Sale extinguished the Deed of Trust. *See Chase Plaza, supra*. The trial court also incorrectly held that the Association's representations that the Property was being held "subject to" prior liens was controlling. This Court has held that such representations are invalid because a super-priority lien cannot be waived

pursuant to the D.C. Code § 42-1901.07. *See Liu v. U.S. Bank National Association*, 179 A.3d 871, 878 (D.C. 2018). Had the trial court applied these binding precedents, it is clear that the Deed of Trust was extinguished by virtue of the Condo Sale and Wonder Twins' claim to title is superior to that of Housing Trust.

As discussed in more detail below, the lower court's ruling should be reversed.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court of Appeals reviews the trial court's granting of summary judgment *de novo*, applying the same standard of analysis the trial court performed in considering the motion based on the record before it. *E.g., Perkins v. District of Columbia*, 146 A.3d 80, 84 (D.C. 2016) (internal citation omitted). Statutory interpretation of D.C. Code § 42-1903.13 is also a question of law that this Court is to consider *de novo*. *E.g., Chase Plaza Condominium Ass'n, Inc. v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.*, 98 A.3d 166, 172 (D.C. 2014).

#### **ARGUMENT**

Long standing statutory law and almost a decade's worth of jurisprudence from this Court require that the trial court's decision be reversed. Wonder Twins obtained title to the Property free and clear of the Lender's Deed of Trust by virtue of the Condo Sale conducted pursuant to D.C. Code § 42-1903.13. This Court's decision from *Chase Plaza* and its progeny confirm that an unsatisfied first deed of trust is extinguished by such a super-priority lien sale irrespective of any

representation that the auction was conducted "subject to" a first deed of trust. As a result, the Lender's subsequent foreclosure of its extinguished Deed of Trust, was improper. It thus follows that Housing Trust's purchase of the Property from an invalid auction is null and void. The trial court's ruling that Housing Trust holds superior title to the Property to that of Wonder Twins should be reversed on appeal.

I. THE TRIAL COURT INCORRECTLY HELD THAT THE DEED OF TRUST WAS NOT EXTINGUISHED AS A RESULT OF A SUPER-PRIORITY LIEN CONDOMINIUM SALE.

Binding precedent from this Court confirms that the lower court should have quieted title in Wonder Twins' favor. This Court has held that an analysis as to whether the Condo Sale extinguished the Lender's Deed of Trust under D.C. Code § 42-1903.13 begins with an interpretation of the governing statute itself. See Chase Plaza Condominium Ass'n, Inc. v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 98 A.3d 166, 172 (D.C. 2014). The District of Columbia Condominium Act (the "Act") governs the operation of condominium associations and the creation of its liens. *Id.* at 173 (citing D.C. Code § 42-1901.01, et seq.). D.C. Code § 42-1903.13(a) provides that any assessment levied against a condominium unit that is not satisfied when it becomes due and payable shall constitute a lien in favor of the unit owners' association on that condominium unit. A condominium lien shall be prior to any other lien except inter alia a first mortgage or deed of trust. D.C. Code § 42-1903.13(a)(1). The Act provided a carveout to this rule, such that the most recent six months of condominium assessments owed take superior priority to that of a first mortgage or deed of trust. *See id.* at (a)(2). This Court in *Chase Plaza* clarified this exception in explaining the following:

[T]he Act effectively splits condominium-assessment liens into two liens of differing priority: (1) a lien for six months of assessments that is higher in priority than the first mortgage or first deed of trust – sometimes called a "super-priority lien" – and (2) a lien for any additional unpaid assessments that is lower in priority than the first mortgage or first deed of trust.

See Chase Plaza, 98 A.3dat 173. In sum, the Act establishes lien priority as follows: (1) an association's super-priority lien (most recent six months of assessments owed); (2) a lender's first deed of trust; (3) the junior portion of the condominium lien comprised of any remaining unpaid assessments owed on the unit; and (4) all inferior liens recorded thereafter. See id.

The outcome of a foreclosure of a super-priority lien is that a first deed of trust will be extinguished if the auction proceeds do not satisfy the lender's lien. See id. For over a decade now, this Court has reaffirmed this holding. See, e.g., 4700 Conn 305 Trust v. Capital One, N.A., 193 A.3d 762, 764 (D.C. 2018) (citing Chase Plaza, supra at 172); RFB Properties II, LLC v. Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Trustee for Residential Accredit Loan, Inc. Mortgage Asset-Backed Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2005-QA8, 247 A.3d 689, 691-92 (D.C. 2021). The import of this holding is that a "foreclosure sale purchaser acquires free and clear title" to the condominium unit. Chase Plaza, supra at 172.

The Association's foreclosure of its super-priority condominium lien extinguished the Lender's Deed of Trust. The Notice of Condo Lien and Notice of Condo Sale demonstrate that the Association was foreclosing on its Condo Lien that encompassed over two years' worth of unpaid assessments. As a matter of law, the Condo Lien comprised of the super-priority portion of the lien. See 4700 Conn 305 Trust v. Capital One, N.A., 193 A.3d 762, 765 (D.C. 2018). At the auction, Wonder Twins purchased the Property as the highest bidder in the amount of \$13,000. App. 168. The sales proceeds, after satisfying the super-priority lien, were insufficient to satisfy the outstanding debt on the Deed of Trust. Compare id., with App. 137 (the Deed of Trust's principal balance was \$182,598). Housing Trust does not dispute any of these facts concerning the Condo Sale. App. 133-34. As a matter of law, when the Condo Sale proceeds were insufficient to satisfy the Lender's lien, the Deed of Trust was extinguished. See Chase Plaza, supra at 172. The result is that, by virtue of the Condo Sale, Wonder Twins held title to the Property free and clear of any liens, including the Lender's Deed of Trust. Id.

Wonder Twins' title to the Property is superior to that of Housing Trust. Pursuant to D.C. Code § 42-401, conveyance of title to real property takes effect upon the date of delivery of a deed. However, the deed does not take effect against creditors and subsequent bona fide purchasers and mortgagees until they have notice of the conveyance by virtue of its recordation in the Recorder of Deeds. *Id.* 

Following the Condo Sale, on October 11, 2017, Wonder Twins recorded its Trustee's Deed in the District of Columbia Land Records. App. 169-70. At that time, both the Lender and Housing Trust were on notice of Wonder Twins' ownership interest in the Property and the legal implications of the Condo Sale – i.e., the extinguishment of its Deed of Trust. *See McKinley v. Crawford*, 61 App.D.C. 123, 125 (D.C. 1932) (recordation of a deed puts the world on notice).

The import of Wonder Twins' recordation of its deed is that Housing Trust cannot be a viewed as bona fide purchaser of the Property. A bona fide purchaser is one "who acquires an interest in property for valuable consideration and without notice of any outstanding claims which are held against the property by third parties." Clay Properties, Inc. v. Washington Post Co., 604 A.2d 890, 894 (D.C. 1992) (internal citation omitted). However, a buyer cannot be a bona fide purchaser if they are on inquiry notice of a competing or superior claim to the Property. See id. Thus, as a matter of law, Housing Trust cannot be a subsequent bona fide purchaser to the Property to supersede Wonder Twins' interest therein. Housing Trust assumed the risk in bidding on distressed real estate and purchased nothing at the Lender's Sale because the Lender had no lien to enforce. See Suart v. American Sec. Bank, 494 A.2d 1333, 1338 (D.C. 1985) (noting that "the doctrine of caveat *emptor* applies to foreclosure sales"). Wonder Twins' title to the Property from the Condo Sale is superior to Housing Trust's claim to title from the Lender's Sale.

II. THE TRIAL COURT MISINTERPRETED THE LAW IN THREE MATERIAL WAYS IN REACHING ITS INCORRECT RULING THAT HOUSING TRUST HAS SUPERIOR TITLE TO THE PROPERTY.

The trial court's ruling should be reversed because it is based on three material misinterpretations of the law. The trial court held that Housing Trust's claim to title to the Property is superior to that of Wonder Twins' because the Lender's foreclosure of the Deed of Trust held a higher lien priority than the Condo Lien. App. 228 (holding that Housing Trust's "Trustee's Deed which stems from the foreclosure of the 2007 Deed of Trust is superior to [Wonder Twins'] Condo Foreclosure Deed...."). The trial court's holding is legally flawed for three reasons. First, the trial court incorrectly reasons that a purchaser's claim to title of a foreclosed property is superior to another foreclosure purchaser based on who's foreclosed upon lien held higher lien priority. Second, the trial court incorrectly determined that the Deed of Trust is a higher priority lien than the Condo Lien, which is directly contradicted by statute. Finally, the underlying error within the trial court's reasoning is its failure to apply the seminal case from this Court analyzing condominium lien foreclosures - Chase Plaza, and its progeny. The culmination of the aforementioned misinterpretations in the law guided the trial court's reasoning which, when corrected as explained below, warrants the reversal of the trial court's decision.

# A. Wonder Twins' Trustee's Deed Controls as the Operative Deed.

Wonder Twins' superior claim to title is premised on its status as a bona fide purchaser and its earlier recordation of its Trustee's Deed and is not, as the trial court claims, premised on the lien priority status of the Condo Lien. It is presumed that a purchaser of a valid foreclosure sale is protected as a bona fide purchaser. *See Henok v. Chase Home Finance, LLC*, 890 F.Supp.2d 65, 71 (D.D.C. 2012). This record does not reflect that Housing Trust disputes the validity of the Condo Sale or that there were any improprieties in the Association's conduct of the auction. Wonder Twins was a bona fide purchaser of the Condo Sale because it acquired the Property for consideration (\$13,000) and without notice of any other claims to title. App. 168. Therefore, Wonder Twins enjoys the protections of a bona fide purchaser as the highest bidder at a valid foreclosure sale.

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