#### NO. 23-CV-0719



### DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Received 03/05/2024 10:05 AM Filed 03/05/2024 10:05 AM

WONDER TWINS HOLDINGS, LLC, Appellant,

v.

450101 DC HOUSING TRUST, Appellee.

Appeal from the District of Columbia Superior Court CA-000141-B (Honorable Robert Rigsby)

# **Brief of Appellee**

### **450101 DC HOUSING TRUST**

March 5, 2024

Brian T. Gallagher (CPF 0512130284) Gallagher Law 1906 Towne Center Blvd, Suite 275 Annapolis, MD 21401 410-533-4855 gallagher@briantgallagherlaw.com Counsel for Appellee 450101 DC Housing Trust

### **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

Appellant (Wonder Twins Holdings, LLC)

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

# **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Wonder Twins' argument that "[b]inding precedent from this Court confirms that the lower court should have quieted title in [its] favor" is flawed because this Court has never had occasion to consider a similar case under the 2017 Amendments to the Condo Act (as defined below). The 2017 Amendments to the Condo Act make clear that a condominium association may elect to foreclose on its assessment lien

Contrary to Housing Trust, which made immediate efforts to obtain possession, Wonder Twins made no attempt to gain possession of the Property for nearly a year after their purported claim to title arose.

"subject to the first deed of trust" on a property and notice the foreclosure sale accordingly. Here, the association did just that and reinforced that decision by publishing a notice of its foreclosure sale explicitly stating that the sale was "subject to any prior liens, encumbrances and/or municipal assessments, if any." The subsequent Memorandum of Purchase and Condo Foreclosure Deed memorializing the foreclosure sale reiterated and incorporated that term and condition. As a result, Wonder Twins took title "subject to" the Deed of Trust and its purchase did not extinguish it.

Additionally, as a result of this repeated, express notice, Wonder Twins cannot be deemed a bona fide purchaser of the Property in light of the prior-recorded Deed of Trust.

Accordingly, the Superior Court properly entered summary judgment in favor of Housing Trust finding that it is the fee simple title holder to the Property and that its title is free and clear of any claim of right, title or interest held by Wonder Twins. The judgment should be affirmed.

#### **RULE 26.1 CORPORATE DISCLOSURE**

Appellee Housing Trust is a privately held trust and does not have any members or shareholders that are a publicly traded company.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE CONDOMINIUM SALE DID NOT EXTINGUISH THE FIRST MORTGAGE

The lower court correctly granted summary judgment in the Housing Trust's favor finding that Wonder Twins' purported purchase of the condo unit was subject to the existing Deed of Trust representing the superior lien on the condominium unit. Here, as Wonder Twins recognizes, the issue involves the interpretation and application of the District of Columbia Condominium Act, which governs the creation and operation of condominiums. See D.C. Code § 42-1901.01 et seq. (the "Condo Act"). The Condo Act provides that a condominium association may impose a lien against a unit for non-payment of assessments. The Condo Act further sets forth the relative priorities of liens against a condo unit and provides that the assessment lien is "prior to any other lien or encumbrance except . . . [a] first mortgage . . . or [first] deed of trust . . . recorded before the date on which the assessment sought to be enforced became delinquent." D.C. Code § 42-1903.13(a)(1)(B). Here, the record unequivocally demonstrates, and the Superior Court correctly found, that the Deed of Trust was recorded before the date on which the assessment the Association sought to enforce became delinquent.<sup>2</sup>

Wonder Twins' claim that the recordation of its assessment lien dates back to the recording of the Association's governing documents is without merit. D.C. Code § 42-1903.13(b) merely absolves a condominium association of the requirement of filing a lien for each delinquent assessment. It does not allow it to jump in line in front of a duly recorded first mortgage.

The Condo Act also splits the lien for unpaid assessments into "two liens of differing priority." See Chase Plaza Condo. Ass'n, Inc. v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., 98 A.3d 166, 173 (D.C. 2014). First, an association is granted a lien for the most recent six months of unpaid assessments, which lien is higher in priority than a first mortgage (also referred to as a super-priority lien). *Id.* (see also D.C. Code § 42-1903.13(a)(2) (providing that an association's lien "shall [] be prior to a mortgage or deed of trust ... to the extent of the common expense assessments ... which would have become due ... during the [six] months immediately preceding institution of the action to enforce the lien.") Second, the Condo Act grants an association another lien for any remaining unpaid assessments beyond the most recent six-month period that is "lower in priority than the first mortgage or first deed of trust." See Liu v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n, 179 A.3d 871, 877 (D.C. 2018) (citing Chase Plaza, 98 A.3d at 173.

Critically, in April 2017, the Condo Act was amended to provide for specific notice and disclosure requirements relative to the different level of priority an association's liens may occupy and to allow it to elect which lien it will foreclose upon. Section 42-1903.13(c)(4)(B) reinforces the split-priority of the assessment liens and requires that the association notice and publish one of two disclosures depending on the priority of the lien they are seeking to enforce:

- (B) The Notice of Foreclosure Sale of Condominium Unit for Assessments

  Due shall:
  - (i) State the past due amount being foreclosed upon and that must be paid in order to stop the foreclosure;
    - (ii) Expressly state that the foreclosure sale is for either:
      - (I) The 6-month priority lien as set forth in subsection (a)(2) of this section and *not subject to the first deed of trust*; or
      - (II) More than the 6-month priority lien set forth in subsection (a)(2) of this section and *subject to the first deed of trust*; and
  - (iii) Notify the unit owner that if the past due amount being foreclosed upon is not paid within 31 days after the date the NFSCUAD is mailed, the executive board shall sell the unit at a public sale at the time, place, and date stated in the NFSCUAD. Emphasis added.

See D.C. Code § 42-1903.13(c)(4)(B) (emphasis added) (the "2017 Amendments")

The impetus for the 2017 Amendments stem from the confusion that arose surrounding the impact of condominium foreclosures on prior recorded deeds of trusts and mortgages. The ambiguity was recognized in the cases so heavily relied on by Wonder Twins, *Chase Plaza*, 98 A.3d at 177; *Liu*, 179 A.3d at fn. 9; and 4700 *Conn 305 Trust v. Capital One, N.A.*, 193 A.3d 762 (D.C. 2018). The inescapable fact that is fatal to Wonder Twin's argument is that none of these cases were analyzed under the 2017 Amendment to the Condo Act. In fact, *Liu* specifically acknowledged that its holding was not based on the 2017 Amendment but rather decided "whether, *prior to the 2017 amendment* to D.C. Code § 42-1903.13, a condominium association could choose to sell the condominium unit subject to the

first mortgage or first deed of trust on the property, while at the same time enforcing its super-priority lien." This Court was clear in *Liu* that "we are not stating that a foreclosing condominium association is required to foreclose pursuant to its super-priority lien" thereby leaving open the question of what happens when an association chooses to foreclose only on its other lien. The D.C. Council answered that question with the enactment of the 2017 Amendments to the Condo Act which specifically allowed a condominium association to conduct its foreclosure sale "subject to" existing liens.

Similarly, in 4700 Conn, the foreclosure sale at issue took place in 2013—long before the 2017 Amendment was even contemplated—and this Court left "construction and applications of the [2017 Amendments] to another day." 193 A.3d at 766. Accordingly, the Superior Court properly rejected Wonder Twin's argument that Liu and 4700 Conn dictate that the Association's liens were superior to mortgage liens recorded in time before them. App. 229. In so rejecting, the Superior Court recognized that both Liu and 4700 Conn were based on an interpretation of the Condo Act prior to the 2017 Amendments and, thus were inapplicable to the issue at hand where the Condo Sale was conducted well after the effective date of the 2017 Amendments.

Consistent with the disclosure requirements set forth in the 2017 Amendments to the Condo Act, the Association noticed the Condo Sale with the following terms

and conditions: "[t]he property will be sold subject to any prior liens, encumbrances, and/or municipal assessments if any." Thus, all third parties, including Wonder Twins, were effectively on notice that the Association elected to conduct its foreclosure sale "subject to" existing liens, including the Deed of Trust. Just as the Superior Court found, this provision, when read in light of the 2017 Amendments "put [Wonder Twins] on notice that the property it purchased was subject to prior liens and encumbrances. Therefore, [Housing Trust demonstrated] that its Trustee's Deed, which stems from the foreclosure of the 2007 Deed of Trust is superior to [Wonder Twin]'s Condo Foreclosure Deed in accordance with § 42-1903.13." App. 228.

Any other interpretation of the 2017 Amendments would render them superfluous and, thus contrary to this Court's long-established jurisprudence regarding statutory interpretation. As this Court has recognized, "[t]he first step in construing a statute is to read the language of the statute and construe its words according to their ordinary sense and plain meaning." *O'Rourke v. District of Columbia Police & Firefighters' Ret. & Relief Bd.*, 46 A.3d 378, 383 (D.C. 2012). The words of the statute, however, must be read in context of the statute taken as a whole "and are to be given a sensible construction and on that would not work an obvious injustice." *Columbia Plaza Tenants' Ass'n v. Columbia Plaza Ltd. P'ship*, 869 A.2d 329, 332 (D.C. 2005). Here, the 2017 Amendments, when read plainly,

make clear that the required notice must disclose the effect of the association's intended sale. It must "[e]xpressly state that the foreclosure sale is either ... not subject to the first deed of trust; or ... subject to the first deed of trust." This puts any prospective purchaser on notice of the extent of the rights and interests it may purchase and further puts the onus on such prospective purchaser to inform itself of the existence of any first deed of trust. When read in the context of the Condo Act as a whole, this interpretation permits an association to conduct a foreclosure sale "subject to the first deed of trust." Pursuant to D.C. Code § 42-1901.13(c)(4)(B), the Association elected to conduct its foreclosure sale of the Property "subject to" existing liens as disclosed in its published notice and later reflected in each document memorializing the sale to Wonder Twins. The language of the notice provided pursuant to the plain meaning of the 2017 Amendments has a single effect: Wonder Twins' purchase of the Property did not extinguish the pre-existing Deed of Trust, but rather was expressly "subject to" it. Accordingly, the Superior Court's grant of summary judgment in Housing Trust's favor was proper.

II. WONDER TWINS WAS NOT A BONA FIDE PURCHASER BECAUSE IT WAS ON NOTICE OF THE FIRST MORTGAGE PRIOR TO PURCHASING THE PROPERTY

Wonder Twins argues that it enjoys the status of a bona fide purchaser and thus has a superior claim to title to the Property. *See* Appellant Brief at 15. As is undisputed, Housing Trust's Deed of Trust was a valid and existing lien against the

Property that was duly recorded prior to the Condo Lien. Under D.C. Code § 42-401, a deed conveying an interest in real property is not effective against "subsequent bona fide purchasers" unless it is recorded. "A bona fide purchaser is one 'who acquires an interest in property for a valuable consideration and without notice of any outstanding claims which are held against the property by third parties." *Clay Properties v. Washington Post*, 604 A.2d 890 (D.C. 1992) (citing 6A R. POWELL P. ROHAN, THE LAW OF REAL PROPERTY ¶ 904[2][b], at 82-10 (1989)). The recordation of the Deed of Trust put the world on notice of its claim to title in the Property. As a result, any later purported purchaser of an interest in the Property is charged with inquiry or constructive notice of the pre-existing Deed of Trust. As this Court held in *Clay Properties*,

A purchaser is held to be on inquiry notice where he or she is aware of circumstances which generate enough uncertainty about the state of title that a person of ordinary prudence would inquire further about those circumstances. The purchaser is on inquiry notice of all facts and outstanding interests which a reasonable inquiry would have revealed.

Albert v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC (In re El-Erian), 512 B.R. 391 (Bankr. D.D.C. 2014) (citing Clay Properties, 604 A.2d at 895.

Thus, while Wonder Twins argues that Housing Trust "assumed the risks associated with its constructive notice of Wonder Twins' claim to title from its recorded Trustee's Deed when it later bid", this argument fails to recognize that it

was Wonder Twins in the first instance that must be charged with notice of the Deed of Trust. As made clear from the Notice of Condo Sale, the Memorandum of Purchase and the Foreclosure Deed, the foreclosure sale of the Property was "subject to any prior liens, encumbrances and/or municipal assessments, if any." As a result, before Wonder Twins purportedly purchased the Property at foreclosure it on actual notice that its rights and interests would be subject to existing liens, and the recordation of the Deed of Trust put a reasonable purchaser on notice that the Property is encumbered. Taken together, Wonder Twins must be charged with notice of the Deed of Trust and that the Condo Sale was selling the Property "subject to" that pre-existing encumbrance.

Furthermore, the unconscionably low price that Wonder Twins paid for the Property is additional evidence that the purchase price was subject to existing liens and that the Property was being taken "subject to" existing encumbrances. At the time of the Condo Sale, the Subject Property had a tax-assessed value of \$107,400, but only fetched a winning bid of \$13,000. App. 223-224. It was clear that prospective bidders, including Wonder Twins, understood that they were not purchasing a property free and clear for nearly 10% of its appraised value. Accordingly, Wonder Twins was never a bona fide purchaser of the Property free and clear of the existing Deed of Trust.

## **CONCLUSION**

The Superior Court's grant of summary judgement in favor of Housing Trust should be affirmed.